

Teaching Squares

Interdisciplinary reflection to enhance academic practice for student learning.

Joanne Harmon, Tanya Weiler, Kathy Darzanos, Amanda Bridgewater, Angela Brown (2025)



Interdisciplinary reflection using Teaching Squares

to enhance academic practice

for student learning.

Table of Contents

| Introduction | 3 |
|---|----|
| Enhancing teaching practice and student learning from self-reflection | 4 |
| What are the benefits of being involved in a Teaching Square | 5 |
| What makes Teaching Squares unique? | 6 |
| Prepare for observations How to do a Teaching Square | |
| Why small groups over a short period of time? | |
| During the Teaching Square observation | 10 |
| Developing a Teaching Square schedule | 12 |
| Have a plan | 13 |
| Aspects to consider when thinking about undertaking observations | 14 |
| Choose a focus | 14 |
| Engagement | 14 |
| Content | 15 |
| Diversity | 15 |
| Instructional strategies | 16 |
| Classroom climate | 17 |
| Things to think about as an observer | 17 |
| Teaching Square tools for use | |
| Rolfe's reflective model | 21 |
| References | 22 |



| Figure 1. The guiding principles of Teaching Squares (Berenson, 2017) | 7 |
|---|----|
| Figure 2. The steps involved in developing a Teaching Square | 11 |
| Figure 3. Teaching Squares schedule | 12 |
| Figure 4. Setting expectations: What do we hope to gain from this experience? | |
| Figure 5. Observational diary | 18 |
| Figure 6. Post observation summary tool | |
| Figure 7. Gibbs' reflective cycle | 20 |
| Figure 8. Rolfe's reflective model | |

Authors

Dr Joanne Harmon, Tanya Weiler, Kathy Darzanos, Amanda Bridgewater, Dr Angela Brown



Introduction

The act of being watched and watching others teach can feel risky and vulnerable (Berenson, 2017). Using a Teaching Square can provide the foundation to create a rich learning experience for individual participants to build supportive, non-judgmental teaching and learning communities within and across universities.

Teaching Squares are often cited as an alternative or first step towards peer review of teaching (Friedman et al., 2022; Harmon et al., 2024). Self-reflection on observation of a colleague(s) teaching has many terms, but for this guideline the term 'Teaching Square' will be used. This is the process whereby a collective group of four higher education (HE) academics, ideally from varied disciplines across the university come together and view an episode of teaching in order to provide an opportunity for self-reflection (Haave, 2014; Kirker et al., 2021). Furthermore, the implementation of Teaching Squares is designed to facilitate the building of a community of practice (Brown et al., 2024), and reduce the isolation recognised in teaching (Hattam & Weiler, 2022). HE academics typically are required to undertake some teaching, and this is even true for research focussed staff, who are required to teach students on how to undertake research (Colgan & DeLong, 2015). For some HE academics within health disciplines, they will typically have some clinical



background, but they may lack formal teacher training, for these reasons a process of reflection of teaching is critical (Harmon et al., 2022).

Enhancing teaching practice and student learning from self-reflection

Recognised as supporting good teaching practice (Hattam et al., 2019) and based on the findings of a current scoping review (Harmon et al., 2024), and pilot study (Brown et al., 2024), Teaching Squares can provide an optimal experience for those seeking knowledge on how best to engage newly appointed casual, fixed term and continuing HE academic staff to undertake collaborative and collegial interdisciplinary teaching. Using a Teaching Squares approach provides a safe learning environment to reflect on teaching, and can be the first steppingstone towards formative peer to peer and ultimately summative peer review of teaching.

Engaging in Teaching Squares contains the main characteristics of reflective practice interventions. Namely, use of a situation, inclusion of theory to improve both teaching practice and use of explicit reflective theory with a facilitator at hand (Richard et al., 2019). In addition, the relationships and networking gained from undertaking a Teaching Square can take on many characteristics, which can in some instances develop into mutual mentoring relationships (Friedman et al., 2022). The benefits of Teaching Squares include developing an atmosphere of inquisitiveness and constructive inquiry as opposed to that of criticism.



What are the benefits of being involved in a Teaching Square

Participating in Teaching Squares is an approach distinctly different from formal peer reviews but holds the potential to stimulate reflection on teaching practices. This has the potential to lead to transformative changes in student interactions, content presentation and assessment methods. Unlike formative or summative peer review, Teaching Square participants do not provide (or receive) direct feedback (Brown et al, 2024). Instead participating in a Teaching Square can instead provide energy and vitalise individual teaching practices through gaining new ideas (Berenson (2017).

Teaching in higher education, as noted by Berenson (2017) is typically experienced as a private endeavour which will often take place behind either a computer screen or a closed door, and exclusively in front of students. While teaching can often be viewed as an independent activity, seeking out ways to engage in dialogue and exchange ideas around teaching is known to be beneficial (Friedman et al., 2022).

There are numerous reported advantages of participating in a Teaching Square (Brown et al., 2024; Friedman et al., 2022; Harmon et al., 2024; Hattam & Weiler, 2023; Hattam & Weiler, 2024; Lemus-Martinez et al., 2021; Weiler & Clifton, 2024). These include improving teaching practices and identification by self-reflection on one's own strengths and weaknesses thereby assisting with development of self-awareness (Brown et al., 2024; Haave, 2014) and strategies to address specific teaching challenges (Weiler & Clifton, 2024). This can lead to greater engagement and motivation to improve teaching. Involvement in the



process can also encourage collaboration and support among colleagues resulting in HE academics sharing their ideas, best practices and working together to identify and/or address common challenges (Harmon et al., 2022; Wilson et al., 2021).

A notable advantage is the flexibility of synchronous or asynchronous observation. This reflective engagement empowers educators, motivating sustained achievement. In higher education, evidence suggests that involvement in Teaching Squares plays a crucial role in fostering pedagogical reflection and improving practices (Brown et al 2024).

What makes Teaching Squares unique?

In contrast to traditional peer observation initiatives, Teaching Squares involve reflecting on what can be learned about one's own teaching by observing colleagues (Berenson, 2017). As opposed to evaluating others, the emphasis in Teaching Squares is on **self-evaluation** and **reflection** (Friedman et al., 2022). That is, it is non-judgemental (Atkins et al., 2018).

Use of Teaching Squares allows the development of peer professional networks which are useful not only for academic careers, but also for teaching support. The formal reflection process in Teaching Squares allows development and growth in teaching styles by encouraging individuals to critically assess their own practices and learn from peers' methods (Brown et al., 2024; Harmon et al., 2024). As recognised by Brown et al (2024), timing and time to participate are crucial aspects for future consideration.

TEACHING SQUARES Unisa

In order for the creation of supportive, open and energizing environments, there are four guiding principles for the foundations of Teaching Squares, as shown in Figure 1, (Berenson, 2017). Teaching Squares are unique in that they offer the opportunity for classroom visits by peers that are free from peer evaluation (Friedman et al., 2022).

Figure 1. The guiding principles of Teaching Squares (Berenson, 2017).

Confidential reciprocity

- Everyone observes and is observed.
- All experience the role of teacher and learner in a confidential environment.

Appreciation

 Aim to identify and build on effective practices and environments for learning.

Mutual respect

 Respect for instructors, students and contextual differences.

Self-referential reflection

 Report what was learned to improve our OWN teaching rather than a square's partner.

Teaching Squares offer opportunities for participants to be self-learners in their own classes and assume a dual role of being the observer and the observed (Friedman et al., 2022; Harmon et al., 2024). Having appreciation and identification of a conductive environment for reflections and conversations about teaching, means an approach is undertaken that begins in the spirit of appreciation of the work of their colleagues (Friedman et al., 2022). As Brown et al. (2024) observed in their work on Teaching Squares, experiences around participation was described as being "a privilege to be in someone else's class and …



engaged with them in this process. Not only did you see their teaching style, but we had the opportunity to chat".

Feeling safe while undertaking a Teaching Square highlights the importance of creating a safe and non-judgmental environment for professional growth and collaborative learning.

This sense of safety encourages educators to explore their teaching practices, seek feedback, improve practice and foster a culture of collaboration and teaching excellence.

Prepare for observations

In order to capitalise on the micro-observations in the teaching space, it is important to also gain a sense of the macro level in advance. This includes broadly understanding the course being observed, what degree it forms part of, and any cohort specifics that are important for observation. This means a bigger picture viewpoint is required before undertaking observations. It is recommended that to have a more meaningful observation experience, a pre-observation meeting is held to share information about the course, as well as the goals of each individual in the square. Information about the course may take the form of course outlines, learning objectives, relevant assignments etc. (Berenson, 2017).

The following prompts may be used for guidance (Atkins et al., 2018), they are suggestions only, as the observation experience is intended to provide individuals with data to subsequently reflect upon in terms of their own teaching, rather than provide input or feedback to colleagues about their teaching (Berenson, 2017).



- What was the most surprising thing you learned by participating in the Teaching Squares program?
- What three words best describe your learning experience in the Teaching Squares program?
- How would you describe your feelings/reactions to your experience of participating in the Teaching Squares program?
- What is one thing you learned by participating in the Teaching Squares program that will impact your teaching practice?
- How will you use what you learned in the Teaching Squares program?

By both asking these types of questions and documenting the responses, this can also serve another purpose. Namely, this can provide a valuable artefact for inclusion in a teaching portfolio (Atkins et al., 2018), useful for future reflections or to assist in developing a teaching philosophy statement.

How to do a Teaching Square

To start with, setting up a Teaching Square requires that all participants are clear of the goal. That is, being part of a Teaching Square is all about having an opportunity to observe, be observed, and facilitate discussion in order to reflect on their own teaching methodology and practices (Atkins et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2024; Friedman et al., 2022). Then, arrange to have a small group of four, ideally from different disciplines, who meet to complete a pre-observation meeting. During this time, they will arrange the times they will observe (either synchronously or asynchronously) each of the other members of the square for a minimum of an hour. All observations should be conducted over a short period of time (Atkins et al.,



2018). The final step is to have a de-brief, where the members of the square meet to discuss what they learned about their own practice, anything they are willing to share from their reflections about what they will implement or change in their own teaching, and how they found the experience overall. This final meeting is very important, as this provides the opportunity for the Teaching Square to connect over a shared experience, further fostering collegiality and interdisciplinarity.

Why small groups over a short period of time?

This is a pragmatic strategy. Mainly because teaching schedules can change between semesters or terms and this allows management of the opportunities for others to visit classes (Atkins et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2024). As Teaching Squares have the intention for those who are participating to have an opportunity to reflect on their own practice and pedagogical style, having Teaching Squares over a short period means they themselves are able to reflect and devise new strategies that can be implemented in a timely manner as well (Atkins et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2024).

During the Teaching Square observation

Consider the follow points (Berenson, 2017),

- How long should I stay?
- What is my role when I visit?
- How do I record my observations?
- How will I be introduced to the students in the classroom?



Handy hints:

- Conducting your observations over a 2-week period (while hectic) is recommended to keep the process manageable and actionable.
- Ideally you all attend the same observation, if this isn't possible then no worries do what works!

How will it work?

Figure 2. The steps involved in developing a Teaching Square

| Step 1: start (1 hour) | Square introductions | Meet your Teaching Square Discuss expectations/hopes Create schedule/ provide context |
|--|----------------------|---|
| Step 2: Teaching Square (up to 1 hour per observation) | Attend three classes | Visit one class for each member (we suggest no more than an hour- the time allocation can be a negotiation) Record observations Reflect on your own teaching through the lens of observation |
| Step 3: after Teaching Square (1 hour) | Final meeting | Meet up (maybe over a coffee) and discuss your experience of having undertaken observations. Share what you may implement from your reflections |



Developing a Teaching Square schedule

Consider using a table to document and arrange when you will conduct your observations.

Figure 3. Teaching Squares schedule

| Name/ email | When I'm visiting | When I'm being visited |
|-------------|---|--|
| | (day/time/campus location- room number/zoom link) | (day/time/campus location- room number/zoom link) |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |



Have a plan

Having a plan means you will get the most out of your experience. Set some expectations and document what your own personal goals are for undertaking a Teaching Square.

Figure 4. Setting expectations: What do we hope to gain from this experience?

| What are my goals? | |
|---|--|
| What do I hope to gain from the 'square'? | |
| Partner #1 Name & goals: | |
| Partner #2 Name & goals: | |
| Partner #3 Name & goals: | |



Some people may find it helpful to organise their observation notes by dividing them into descriptions and reflections, this way notes can be made during the observation and then reflections undertaken after the event.

Aspects to consider when thinking about undertaking observations.

- What specific lens do I want to focus my observations on? eg course design,
 motivation, assessment, teaching strategies, class climate etc.
- Do I need to provide any info ahead of time? Context/Curriculum info/ a bit of detail is good, but not too much.
- Tell your students what is happening, and that your collegues are coming to observe and not judge, they are watching you and not the students, and they will not contribute to the class.
- Remember that the observer will be watching you in reference to themselves. So
 please teach as you would normally teach.

Choose a focus

The following provide some potential ideas for focus of your observation (Berenson, 2017).

These are suggestions and examples only. If you can think of your own pedagogical challenge for this, that would be great.

Engagement

- When were students the most engaged? When did they seem least engaged?
- How do I know the students are engaged?
- What is specifically going on when engagement is happening?
 - O What are the students doing?



- O What is the instructor doing?
- How is the class organised and paced?
 - o How does this affect student engagement?
- What are the patterns of conversation? Who holds the 'conversational ball?'?
 - Is it student to student, student to instructor, is it the same students again and again?
- How does the instructor use verbal and non-verbal communication?

Content

- What do the students already know about the content of today's class?
- Are the students curious about the content?
 - o How has the content been made relevant to the students?
 - o How is this done explicitly?
 - O How is it done implicitly?
- How do the students know what is important in today's class?
 - What activities or practices do the teacher, or students undertake to make matters most evident?
- What happens to help students learnt the material?
 - o What are the various approaches used to convey the content?
- Did the students get it?
 - O How do I know?
 - o How do the students know?
 - O How does the instructor know?

Diversity

 How would diversity be described in this classroom- what are the visible classroom demographics?



- How are differences in learners accommodated?
 - What are the activities or approaches applied here that might help different learners?
- Is there anything about the content of today's class that reflects a diversity of perspectives?
- What are the different approaches that are used to make the classroom an inclusive place?
 - o How are different students encouraged to participate?
- What else is noteworthy in terms of diversity and inclusion in this setting?

Instructional strategies

- What are the different instructional strategies used in this class (presentation/lecture, discussion etc)?
- Do some strategies seem to work better for the students than others? Why is this the case? What seems to be the difference here?
- How does the teacher use classroom media (digital technologies, slides, video, music etc) and/or space?
- Are there any seemingly unexpected moments in the class? How are they handled?
- Are questions used as a teaching strategy? If so, what kinds of questions does the teacher ask, and when? How are the students involved in asking and answering questions? How is the instructor involved in asking and answering questions?
- Are small groups used in the class? If so- when, and how are they implemented?
 What impact do they appear to have on student learning?
- Which instructional strategies seem more engaging for the students? Which strategies allow them to participate in higher order thinking (such as self-reflection, application, and critical thinking)?



Classroom climate

- What was the mood before class? During class? After class?
- How is the classroom arranged physically and how does this influence teaching and learning?
- What kind of rapport exists between teacher and student(s) or among students?
- What kinds of things does the instructor do to address the environment in this class?
- What are the students doing to contribute to the classroom environment?

Things to think about as an observer

- Is there a specific lens through which I want to focus my observations? e.g. Course Design/ Motivation / Assessment/ Teaching strategies/ Class climate.
- Think about some aspects of your teaching which you would like to improve or refine (you may like to refer to your goal). How do your colleagues approach this?
- What differences do you notice in their approach to teaching? Is there anything that would suit your style?
- How do students respond?
- You can also observe the learning, not just the teaching!

You may wish to use a template like the one below to take notes while you are observing each session: (There are templates for each observation on the following pages).



Teaching Square tools for use

Figure 5. Observational diary

| Observation: | | |
|--------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| Time | Description of what's happening | Personal reflections |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |



Figure 6. Post observation summary tool

| Immediately following the visit: |
|--|
| Examples of good teaching and learning practice I've seen in this session: |
| What I have learned from observing this session: |
| Things I might try as a result of observing this session: |
| Follow up reflections after my own teaching: |
| Things I have tried since observing the session: |
| What worked well (including student responses): |
| What I might do differently: |



Gibbs' Reflective Cycle

Was developed by Graham Gibbs in 1988 to give structure to learning from experiences. It offers a framework for examining experiences, and given its cyclical nature lends itself particularly well to repeated experiences, allowing you to learn and plan from things that either went well or didn't go well. It covers 6 stages:

Figure 7. Gibbs' reflective cycle

| Description of the experience | |
|---|--|
| Feelings and thoughts about the experience | |
| Evaluation of the experience, both good and bad | |
| Analysis to make sense of the situation | |
| Conclusion about what you learned and what you could have done differently | |
| Action plan for how you would deal with similar situations in the future, or general changes you might find appropriate | |

TEACHING SQUARES Unisa

Rolfe's reflective model

The simplicity of this model is both a great strength and a possible limitation. It is very easy to remember and can be applied to any field or experience. However, there is a possibility that by just answering the three main questions, the reflection does not achieve a meaningful and critical depth.



To ensure that you have depth and breadth it can be helpful to work through the question prompts outlined below for each stage. You don't have to answer all of them, but they can guide you to what sort of things make sense to include in each stage. You might have other questions that work better for you.

Figure 8. Rolfe's reflective model

What?

The experience of the situation

Helpful questions to answer could be:

- ... is the context?
- ... is the problem/situation/difficulty/re ason for being stuck/reason for success?
- ... was I/we/others trying to achieve?
- ... was the outcome of the situation?
- ... was my role in the situation?
- ... was the role of other people in the situation (if others were involved)?
- ... feelings did the situation evoke in me? And in others (to the extent you know)?
- ... were the consequences for me? And for others?
- ... was good/bad about the experience?

So what?

The implications of the situation

You might want to supplement your own knowledge and thoughts with other people's ideas, references, and theories. This can be to show what helped shape your thoughts and further explore them. This comes down to how much you are looking to formalise your reflections. This can especially be important if the reflection is assessed. Helpful questions could be:

So what...

- ... does this tell me/teach me/imply about the situation/my attitude/my practice/the problem?
- ... was going through my mind in the situation?
- ... did I base my decisions/actions on?
- ... other information/theories/models/literatu re can I use to help understand the situation?
- ... could I have done differently to get a more desirable outcome?
- ... is my new understanding of the situation?
- ... does this experience tell me about the way I work?

Now what?

The action plan

Ensure that you are concrete in your action plan and not only saying generic comments such as 'I will do things differently/better'. The more concrete you can be regarding what you want to do, how you will do it, and how you will remind yourself, the easier and more likely it will be to implement.

Helpful questions could be:

Now what...

- ... do I need to do in the future to do better/fix a similar situation/stop being stuck?
- ... might be the consequences of this new action?
- ... considerations do I need about me/others/the situation to make sure this plan is successful?
- ... do I need to do to ensure that I will follow my plan?



References

- Atkins, B., Hunter, W. J., Baxter, A., & Natoli, A. (2018). *Teaching squares: Crossing new borders* Crossing New Borders, Universal Design & Higher Education in Transformation Congress.,, Dublin Castle.
 - https://arrow.tudublin.ie/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1015&context=unides18pap
- Berenson, C. (2017). Teaching squares: Observe and Reflect on Teaching and Learning. In Taylor Institute for Teaching and Learning. (Ed.). Calgary, Canada: University of Calgary.
- Brown, A., Harmon, J., Birbeck, D., & Costabile, M. (2024). Interdisciplinary teaching squares enhance reflection and collegiality: a collaborative pedagogical approach. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 80(104121), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2024.104121
- Colgan, M., & DeLong, M. (2015). A Teaching Polygon Makes Learning a Community Enterprise. *PRIMUS*, *25*(1), 41-49. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511970.2014.899534
- Friedman, R., George, A., Li, M., & Vijayan, D. (2022). Making teaching communal: Peer mentoring through teaching squares. *Papers on Postsecondary Learning and Teaching*(5), 67-74.
 - https://journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/pplt/article/view/73172/55652
- Haave, N. (2014). Teaching Squares: A teaching Development tool. *The Teaching Professor*, 28(10), 1-8. https://m.mu.edu.sa/sites/default/files/TEACHING_SQUARES.pdf
- Harmon, J., Brown, A., Birbeck, D., Crockett, J., Panadgoo, S., Nawas, A., Stringer, A., & Costabile, M. (2024). Interdisciplinary reflection by higher education academics using teaching squares: A scoping review. *Nurse Education Today*, 106353. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2024.106353
- Harmon, J., Howard, M., & Sharrad, S. (2022). Habitus, social capital, leadership, and reflection: insights for early career nurse academics. *Collegian*, *29*(5), 774-781. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2022.02.005
- Hattam, S. K., & Weiler, T. (2023). 'Every single student counts': leadership of professional development underpinned by social justice for sessional staff in a South Australian university. In C. Forde & D. Torrance (Eds.), *Leading Socially Just Schools* (1st ed., pp. 13). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003357667
- Hattam, S. K., & Weiler, T. (2024). Reframing the 'illegitimate' academic: the critical role of professional development for sessional staff. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 29(4), 1023-1041. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2022.2049743
- Kirker, M., Oberlies, M., Hernandez, C., & DeWaay, S. (2021). Teaching Squares: Improving instruction through observation and self-reflection. *College & Research Libraries News*, 82(8), 370. https://doi.org/10.5860/crln.82.8.370
- Lemus-Martinez, S. M., Weiler, T., Schneider, G. W., Moulik, S., & Athauda, G. (2021). "Teaching squares": A grassroots approach to engaging medical educators in faculty



development. *Medical Teacher*, *43*(8), 910-911. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2021.1929903

- Richard, A., Gagnon, M., & Careau, E. (2019). Using reflective practice in interprofessional education and practice: a realist review of its characteristics and effectiveness. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 33(5), 424-436. https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2018.1551867
- Weiler, T., & Clifton, D. (2024). Enabling approaches in undergraduate courses: a case for crossing the divide. In S. K. Hattam, R. T. Hattam, T. Weiler, & King. S. (Eds.), Enabling Pedagogy and Action Research for Higher Education in Australia (pp. 261-284). DIO press.
- Wilson, A. M., Sarooghi, H., Ryan, T. J., Mitchell, N., & Fernhaber, S. A. (2021). Teaching and Learning Together: Understanding Faculty Motivation to Interdisciplinary Course Cocreation as a Response to a Global Pandemic. *College Teaching*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2021.2010638